STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

OCT 05 2017

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY S.C. SUPREME COURT  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Trial Judge  
The Honorable George C. James, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000280

Vladimir Pantovich, ..... Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina, ..... Petitioner.

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JESSICA E. KINARD  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 77889

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

**

## QUESTION PRESENTED

**Did the PCR court err as a matter of law by finding appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise and argue the trial court's failure to issue a jury instruction on good character during the trial of Respondent, who readily admitted to killing the victim and was arrested while transporting the victim's badly-beaten and unrecognizable body in the trunk of his car to an out-of-state location for disposal before it could be found by authorities?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April 2006, the Georgetown County Grand Jury indicted Pantovich for murder. (App. p. 686-87) Stuart M. Axelrod, Esquire (“trial counsel”) represented Pantovich. (App. p. 1) On February 4, 2008, Pantovich proceeded to trial before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson (“the trial judge”) and a jury. (App. p. 1) On February 8, 2008, the jury found Pantovich guilty of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. (App. p. 609, lines 5-10) The trial judge sentenced Pantovich to eighteen years’ imprisonment. (App. p. 614, lines 3-5)

Joseph L. Savitz, III, Esquire (“appellate counsel”), of the Office of Appellate Defense, perfected Pantovich’s direct appeal with the filing of an Anders<sup>1</sup> brief. (App. p. 688 - 697) The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Pantovich’s appeal on June 8, 2011. State v. Pantovich, Op. No. 2011-UP-275 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 8, 2011). The remittitur was issued June 28, 2011.

The State filed an application for post-conviction relief on June 22, 2012. (App. p. 622) The Honorable George C. James Jr. (“the post-conviction relief judge”) convened a hearing on the application on March 21, 2014 at the Georgetown County Courthouse. (App. p. 633) Tristan M. Shaffer, Esquire (“PCR counsel”) represented Pantovich, and Joshua L. Thomas, Esquire represented the State. (App. p. 633) The only allegation on which Pantovich proceeded was whether appellate counsel performed effectively when it did not file a merits brief challenging the trial judge’s refusal to issue certain jury charges, including a good character charge based on State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 294 S.E.2d 335 (1982). The post-conviction relief judge denied relief in an order dated May 16, 2014, and filed June 16, 2014. (App. p. 675)

---

<sup>1</sup> Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

A notice of appeal was filed by PCR counsel on June 27, 2014. (App. pp. 699 - 712) This was perfected by the filing of a petition for writ of certiorari on February 6, 2015, by Laura R. Baer, Esquire of the Office of Appellate Defense. (App. pp.713 - 739) A return to the petition for writ of certiorari was filed by Mr. Thomas on May 26, 2015. (App. p.740 - 755) Pantovich filed a reply to the State's return to the petition for writ of certiorari on June 5, 2015. (App. p. 756 - 770) In a memorandum opinion filed August 26, 2015, the South Carolina Supreme Court granted the petition, dispensed with further briefing, reversed the PCR court's finding, and remanded for consideration of the matter based on Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Pantovich v. State, Op. No. 2015-MO-052 (S.C. filed August 26, 2015). (App. p.771-774) The remittitur was returned on September 14, 2015. (App. p.775)

On May 2, 2016, the Honorable George C. James, Jr. (again "PCR judge") convened a hearing on this matter at the Richland County Courthouse after all parties and the acting chief administrative judge for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, the Honorable William Seals, consented to a change of venue for ease of scheduling. The Court had before it a copy of the trial transcript, the records of the Georgetown County Clerk of Court, Applicant's records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections, the application for post-conviction relief, and the return. In addition, the first PCR hearing transcript was made part of the record. For the May 2, 2016 hearing, Pantovich was again represented by Tristan M. Shaffer, Esquire, and the State was represented by Jessica E. Kinard, Esquire. (App. p.776 - 815) Judge James issued an order granting relief on the appellate counsel issue on January 8, 2017, and the same was filed on January 12, 2017. (App. p.816 - 823) The State filed a notice of appeal on February 16, 2017, and this petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 7, 2006, Pantovich and his on-and-off girlfriend, Sheila McPherson, got into an altercation after she let herself into his house while they were broken up. (App. p.433;23 – 434;25) Pantovich asked McPherson to leave because he did not want her there, but she refused. (App. p.434;3-10) When she began to smoke marijuana in the home, he again asked her to leave and attempt to contact the police, but the phone was unplugged. (App. p.434;14 – 25) The argument escalated, as McPherson began to point a fireplace poker at Pantovich. (App. p.435;3-11; p.438;3-4) While McPherson kept arguing with Pantovich, he grabbed a baseball bat that was kept by the door and began to hit her, and the next thing he remembered was her lying on the ground as he was hitting her. (App. p.438;5-10)

After realizing what he had done, Pantovich sat in a chair at his home for quite a while before he began panicking and trying to get rid of the body. (App p.468;20 – 469;16) He wrapped her in a comforter, tied her body in rope, and put her body in the trunk of his car. He also placed a plastic bag over her head and a placemat under body her so blood would not get all over the trunk. (App p.469;17 – 471;9; p.474;8 - 11) Pantovich also folded up a rug that McPherson had bled onto in order to hide evidence. (App. p.474;16 – 23)

Pantovich telephoned his son, Marco, who lived in Taylorsville, North Carolina and relayed to him what he had done. (App. p.178;2 – 4; p.178;21 – 178;2; p.209;22 – 25) Marco then called 911 in Alexander County, North Carolina and reported the situation. He relayed that Pantovich had no other family in the area, and it was likely that Pantovich was on the way to his house. (App. p.209;22 – 25) Horry County law enforcement was contacted, and they telephoned Pantovich at his home, who reported that everything was fine. (App. p. 477;12 – 478;14) Soon after the call, and approximately two hours after killing McPherson, Pantovich left his home in

Georgetown County. Alexander County law enforcement received the BOLO South Carolina law enforcement had put out for Pantovich's car, and they ultimately pulled the vehicle pursuant to a felony vehicle stop. (App. p.210;14 – 23; p.212;13 – 15) Pantovich was ordered to get on the ground, handcuffed, and Mirandized. (App. p.215;1 – 216;2) While seated in the car with an officer from Alexander County and without being questioned, Pantovich stated, "Tell my son he did the right thing," and "I just lost it, man." (App. p.220;21 – 222;7) Pantovich was subsequently indicted for one count of murder (Indictment No.: 2006-GS-22-0126).

Pantovich's case was called to trial before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, and Pantovich was found guilty after five days of trial (February 4-8, 2008). (App. p.1) During the jury charge conference, trial counsel submitted three potential charges that dealt with the good character and demeanor of Pantovich, self-defense, and reputation for violence, none of which the trial court used. (App. p.550;21 – 552;9) Trial counsel moved for a new trial based on this, and that motion was denied. (App. p.617;1-3) A notice of appeal was filed, and it was perfected by the filing of an Anders brief, as noted above.

The direct appeal was dismissed and a post-conviction relief application was ultimately filed. Relief was denied to Pantovich, who appealed to this Court. The PCR court's finding was reversed and remanded for a determination pursuant to Strickland v. Washington, supra. The original order issued by the PCR court on May 16, 2014, held the Applicant (now Respondent) failed "to rebut the presumption of regularity in the Court of Appeals' Anders review." (App. p.680) This Court held the Strickland test must be applied, even if an Anders brief is filed and, further, "[t]o prove appellate counsel was ineffective, the applicant must show appellate counsel's performance was deficient and, but for appellate counsel's errors, the result of the

appeal would have been different. Ezell v. State, 345 S.C. 312, 548 S.E.2d 852 (2001).” (App. p.774)

Therefore, on remand, the PCR court considered whether appellate counsel was ineffective pursuant to the standard imposed by Strickland and, specifically, whether appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to file a brief on the merits regarding the trial court’s decision not to issue a jury instruction regarding good character. Ultimately, the PCR court found appellate counsel indeed was ineffective for failing to file such a brief, and it based this reasoning on the following line of cases (as cited in the order of dismissal): See, e.g., State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 240, 294 S.E.2d 335, 335 (1982); State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 649 S.E.2d 41 (Ct. App. 2007) (reversing the trial court for failure to give a good character evidence charge); State v. Harrison, 343 S.C. 165, 539 S.E.2d 71 (Ct. App. 2000) (cert. denied) (reversing drug conviction after the trial court's refusal to charge good character evidence despite the defendant's admission that he attempted to purchase cocaine.); State v. Lyles, 210 S.C. 87, 92, 41 S.E.2d 625, 627 (1947) (finding that the trial court erred in not giving a good character evidence charge but finding that the issue was not preserved).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and conclusions of law receive great deference during appellate review. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000). The proper standard of review in a post-conviction relief action is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the post-conviction relief court's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). The reviewing court will affirm if there is any evidence to support the post-conviction relief court's ruling. Moore v. State, 399 S.C. 641, 646, 732 S.E.2d 871, 873 (2012).

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, at 441, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, at 689. An applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry, at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, and both prongs must be established by an applicant to receive relief. Strickland, at 687. First, an applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under

professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, citing Strickland, at 688. Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997).

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR court erred as a matter of law by finding appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise and argue the trial court's failure to issue a jury instruction on good character during the trial of Respondent, who readily admitted to killing the victim and was arrested while transporting the victim's badly-beaten and unrecognizable body in the trunk of his car to an out-of-state location for disposal before it could be found by authorities.**

The PCR court reversibly erred when it ruled that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to brief the issue of whether the trial court's failure to instruct the jury on Pantovich's good character was reversible error. The good character instruction as presented in the controlling case of Lee-Grigg, on which the PCR court based its ruling, is unnecessary and unconstitutional, as this charge emphasizes good character evidence to the exclusion of other evidence, thus potentially confusing jurors and influencing their deliberations. However, even if the charge is found to be constitutional, appellate counsel was not ineffective because Pantovich suffered no prejudice when a good character jury instruction was not given. The abundant evidence of guilt including, but not limited to, forensic evidence, Pantovich's flight, and his admission of guilt show that his actions are inconsistent with good character or self-defense. There should be no finding of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, and this Court should grant certiorari and ultimately reverse the post-conviction relief court's grant of relief.

### **A. A good character jury instruction is unnecessary and unconstitutional.**

In the case at bar, Pantovich was convicted of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter, after he was charged with murder for beating his life-in girlfriend to death with a baseball bat. (App. p.609;5 - 9) He claimed she had been taunting him with a fireplace poker and, therefore, pursued a claim of self-defense. (App. p.472;8 - 10; p.560;3 - 8; p.640;17 - 20) This defense, as described by trial counsel at the initial PCR evidentiary hearing, was bolstered by the notions that everyone trial counsel interviewed stated Pantovich was not a violent person,

there was a great size disparity between Pantovich and victim, and the victim had a history of fighting with the Pantovich. (App. p.642;7 – 644;4) Because of this, trial counsel submitted jury charges that addressed Pantovich’s good character, as well as the victim’s reputation and propensity for violence, but none were used. Further, there was not a charge pursuant to Green, though “the trial judge did include instructions on the victim’s prior history of physical abuse, her prior difficulties with [Pantovich], her reputation as a violent person, and her intoxication.” (App. p.677) The PCR court found, “[e]ven assuming, *arguendo*, appellate counsel was deficient in failing to brief the trial judge’s refusal to include [Pantovich’s] requested charges, [Pantovich] has not shown how he was prejudiced by appellate counsel’s performance.” (App. p.679)

The State argues this finding should stand – Pantovich has failed to show how he was prejudiced by appellate counsels’ performance – and it should also apply to the good character instruction. The PCR court’s order of dismissal after remand discussed the proposition that without a jury instruction on good character, “it is reasonable to conclude that the jury was not aware that it could consider the [Pantovich’s] good character in determining whether the State had disproven that the [Pantovich] acted in self-defense” and that “there is a reasonable probability that a good character charge would have impacted the jury’s consideration of whether the defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty between him and the victim. See discussion in Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. at 417-418.” (App. p.821-22)

Respectfully, the State argues the holding in Lee-Grigg is antithetical to other cases decided by this Court and the Supreme Court of the United States in terms of how it weighs evidence before the jury and how the jury can be trusted to analyze this information. The earliest case decided by the Supreme Court of the United States on this topic was in 1948 – Michelson v. United States, 335 U.S. 469 (1948). This opinion arose out of a prosecution where a defendant

called character witnesses to speak to his good reputation, and those witnesses, upon cross-examination, testified they were aware of the defendant's earlier criminal record. The defendant argued this was generally unfair, and challenged the practice. The Court began its analysis by considering the essential balancing test of probative inquiry versus prejudicial value:

The State may not show defendant's prior trouble with the law, specific criminal acts, or ill name among his neighbors, even though such facts might logically be persuasive that he is by propensity a probable perpetrator of the crime. The inquiry is not rejected because character is irrelevant; on the contrary, it is said to weigh too much with the jury and to so overpersuade them as to prejudice one with a bad general record and deny him a fair opportunity to defend against a particular charge. The overriding policy of excluding such evidence, despite its admitted probative value, is the practical experience that its disallowance tends to prevent confusion of issues, unfair surprise and undue prejudice.

Id. at 476-7 (footnote omitted). This passage contains the overall considerations when the prosecution is attempting to admit information about a defendant's prior record, and the Court concludes the same logic should be applied when a defendant wishes to open the door into his character:

The price a defendant must pay for attempting to prove his good name is to throw open the entire subject which the law has kept closed for his benefit and to make himself vulnerable where the law otherwise shields him. The prosecution may pursue the inquiry with contradictory witnesses to show that damaging rumors, whether or not well-grounded, were afloat—for it is not the man that he is, but the name that he has which is put in issue.

Id. at 478 (footnote omitted). The Court goes on to discuss limiting instructions to juries and whether those are effective, while eventually surmising that, “[g]iven this option, we think defendants in general and this defendant in particular have no valid complaint at the latitude which existing law allows to the prosecution to meet by cross-examination an issue voluntarily tendered by the defense.” Id. at 485 (citation omitted).

The holding in Lee-Grigg, on which the PCR court partially based its decision, is not in keeping with Michelson or any South Carolina case on the matter. Lee-Grigg cites to Green and

expounds on its harmless error analysis. Green cited to State v. Key 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971) for a more general description of harmless error. Lee-Grigg errs because it places so many suppositions on the jury, notably that “it seems fair to conclude” their struggle in coming to a unanimous verdict was due to whether criminal intent was proven by the State, and an analysis of intent is linked to a defendant’s character.

Compare this to the logic espoused in State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009). Essentially, by removing the concept of inferred malice from a jury charge, this Court gave credence to the idea jurors are rational and reasonable thinkers. It recalled the idea of the “half-truth” that had existed in the old charge, which was “malice includes the absence of justification, excuse, and mitigation,” which “cannot be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon standing alone. Other facts and evidence (or the absence of other facts and evidence) are required for the fulfillment of these component parts.” Id. at 385 S.C. 609-10, 685 S.E.2d at 808-09. These considerations necessarily require the jury to synthesize the facts presented to them in the cases in chief to reach a conclusion – it does not force any presupposition of the law or add undue weight to evidence before them. To be clear, it does not change the standard implied malice charge or the general permissive inference instruction including the statement “you may give it such weight as you determine it should receive.” Id., footnote 9. Additionally, the State can still argue for a finding of malice from the use of a deadly weapon and a defendant can argue the opposite. Id. Simply, “[i]t is axiomatic that some matters appropriate for jury argument are not proper for charging. ‘Do jurors need the court’s permission to infer something? The answer is, of course not.’ Bruce A. Antkowiak, *The Art of Malice*, 60 Rutgers L. Rev. 435, 476 (2008).” Id.

To analogize this to the instant matter, instructing a jury to specifically consider the fact

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