ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Georgetown County

Honorable George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_  
VLADIMIR W. PANTOVICH,

RESPONDENT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000280

\_\_\_\_\_  
RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED  
FEB 23 2018  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Respondent agrees with petitioner's statement of the case.

## ARGUMENT

Where the State conceded during the PCR hearing that appellate counsel, who filed an Anders brief, failed to raise a preserved issue on appeal, ample evidence supports the PCR judge's findings that respondent had a reasonable probability of success of having his case reversed because the trial judge's failure to give a charge on good character left the jury without any framework on how to consider the character evidence presented during the trial.

### *Introduction*

No reason exists to grant certiorari in this PCR case. The standard of review controls because the only issue before the PCR court was prejudice, and then-Judge James' ruling is entitled to great deference on appeal. The trial in this case involved self-defense and the jury received no instruction from the court on how to assess respondent's five character witnesses. The Attorney General's argument that the lack of a character evidence charge was not prejudicial rings hollow because, at trial, the solicitor attempted to prevent the introduction of respondent's character witnesses and called his own character witness in reply. The PCR judge correctly recognized that the evidence presented a jury question and that the trial judge's error, had it been raised on appeal, would have required reversal.

The only pure error of law alleged by the State in its petition is a meritless constitutional argument that is wholly unpreserved and was never considered by the PCR judge. The State never raised its argument asking for reversal of longstanding jurisprudence at the hearing nor filed a Rule 59(e) motion. Because the PCR judge's ruling is correct, is entitled to substantial deference, and any novel argument is unpreserved, this Court should deny certiorari.

*The Issue Before the PCR Court*

This Court remanded the case to the PCR judge after he originally held that a PCR applicant cannot prevail on an ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claim unless he can show an irregularity in the Court of Appeals' Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), procedure. Pantovich v. State, Op. No. 2015-MO-052 (Aug. 26, 2015). App. 771. At the subsequent PCR hearing, no dispute existed between the parties as to the issue before the court. App. 778, l. 13 – 779, l. 10. PCR counsel said the only issue was ineffective assistance of appellate counsel and that the State stipulated the issue was preserved at trial. App. 778, l. 17 – 779, l. 10. The PCR judge asked the Attorney General if she agreed that was the issue and she replied, “Yes, Your Honor. We would agree.” App. 779, ll. 8 – 10.

The PCR court then heard extensive argument from both parties regarding the failure to raise the issue of a good character charge on appeal. App. 780, l. 6 – 814, l. 15. The thrust of the argument and the PCR judge's questions revolved around the prejudice prong of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). App. 780, l. 6 – 814, l. 15. The PCR judge asked how the good character charge affected the jury's analysis of self-defense. App. 787, l. 8 – 789, l. 8.

The State argued the facts of the case meant that respondent could not prevail, despite the failure to raise the concededly preserved issue. App. 789, l. 12 – 797, l. 25. The State argued respondent's statements and the autopsy evidence showed meant that the chances to create reasonable doubt on self-defense “cannot be rehabilitated by a good character charge, especially when considering the other elements of self-defense. App. 796, ll. 19 – 25. The State also floated the idea that perhaps appellate counsel had a strategic reason for filing a no-merits Anders brief, a theory that was quickly shot down by the PCR judge. App. 798, l. 18 – 800, l. 15.

The theory that was not offered at the PCR hearing is the one it raises for the first time in its petition for certiorari—that the good character charge approved by this Court in 2010 is unconstitutional. App. 776 – 814, l. 15. State’s Pet. Cert. at 10-16. “[A] party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.” State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 215 (2001). At no point during the PCR hearing did the State argue the charge was unconstitutional. App. 776 – 814, l. 15. “Constitutional arguments are no exception to the preservation rules, and if not raised to the trial court, the issues are deemed waived on appeal.” Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). The PCR court did not address the State’s novel theory in its Order. App. 816-23. The State did not file a Rule 59(e) motion, and its failure to do so waives its ability to argue its constitutional issue on appeal. Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007). Simply stated, the State’s constitutional argument is not preserved and this Court should not grant certiorari to address it.

*The PCR Court’s Order*

The issue that is preserved, but is unworthy of certiorari, is whether the PCR court correctly found that appellate counsel’s failure to raise the good character charge on appeal constituted ineffective assistance. App. 816-23. The PCR judge correctly realized that the evidence below presented a jury issue on self-defense. App. 816-23. The court found that evidence regarding respondent’s character was introduced during the trial and, had they been properly charged, the jury would have considered this evidence along with the evidence of self-defense. App. 816-23. These findings by the PCR court are entitled to great deference and there is ample evidence to support them. See Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016).

### The Evidence at Trial

The State knew from the beginning that it would be trying a self-defense case. App. 168, l. 21 – 169, l. 6. The State told the jury in its opening statement they would hear from respondent's son and respondent told him that he had been attacked by his girlfriend, Sheila McPherson ("McPherson"). App. 168, l. 21 – 169, l. 6. Respondent also told the jury about his self-defense case in his opening statement. App. 173, l. 11 – 174, l. 12. Respondent told the jury they would hear about the illegal drugs in McPherson's system. App. 173, ll. 10 – 174, l. 12. Respondent also set up the argument that he could defend himself from McPherson "until she could not attack him anymore" to counter the State's excessive force argument. App. 174, ll. 5 – 12. Defense counsel told the jury they would hear that self-defense charge from the trial judge and the court gave the charge at the conclusion of the case. App. 174, ll. 5 – 12. App. 597, ll. 15 – 19.

The State called respondent's son, Marco Pantovich ("Marco"), as its first witness. App. 176, ll. 22 – 23. Marco got a call from respondent at 10:10 PM. App. 178, ll. 2 – 4. Respondent told his son he killed McPherson. App. 178, ll. 2 – 4. McPherson was on pills and drinking. App. 189, ll. 18 – 20. Respondent said he got into an argument with McPherson and when he tried to call the police, "she yanked the phone cord out, and she grabbed a fire poker and started swinging and the next thing you know he got the bat and struck her with it." App. 178, l. 18 – 179, l. 2. Respondent told his son he did not know whether he should call the police and turn himself in or kill himself. App. 190, ll. 17 – 25. Marco testified that knowing his dad, these events surprised him. App. 191, ll. 17 – 19.

Marco, a volunteer firefighter, called the police. App. 183, l. 3 – 21. App. 176, ll. 9 – 13. He gave the police a description of respondent's car and his phone number. App. 183, ll. 3 – 21.

App. 183, l. 22 – 172, l. 1. Marco told the officers that McPherson's body was in the trunk of respondent's car. App. 209, l. 22 – 210, l. 5.

Police in North Carolina set up surveillance near Marco's house. App. 211, ll. 6 – 15. At approximately 6:00 AM, the police spotted respondent's car and stopped it. App. 212, ll. 10 – 15. App. 220, ll. 19 – 23. The police took respondent out of the car at gunpoint. App. 214, l. 3 – 215, l. 3. They handcuffed him while he was on the ground. App. 214, l. 21 – 215, l. 10. Respondent complied with their commands. App. 215, ll. 7 – 10. They arrested him and put him in the back of the patrol car. App. 215, ll. 14 – 22. Respondent told the police, "Tell my son he did the right thing." App. 220, l. 24 – 221, l. 19. He then stated, "I just lost it, man." App. to 21, ll. 24 – 25. The police opened the trunk of respondent's car and found McPherson's body wrapped in a blanket and a baseball bat. App. 223, ll. 10 – 19.

When respondent was booked a few hours later, a news crew asked questions asked him questions. App. 225, l. 2 – 226, l. 13. Respondent told the reporters, "I can't take it no more," and that McPherson was on drugs including morphine. App. 226, l. 23 – 227, l. 6. He said he loved her. App. 227, ll. 15 – 16. Respondent expressed remorse and when a reporter asked him if McPherson ever had him "locked up," respondent replied, "many times." App. 227, ll. 2 – 6. Respondent had scratches on his arms and hands when he was arrested. App. 260, l. 20 – 263, l. 19.

The police got a warrant and searched respondent's house. App. 277, l. 22 – 278, l. 2. A rug had a large bloodstain. App. 277, ll. 9 – 20. App. 278, ll. 10 – 15. The jury found other bloodstains throughout the house. App. 279, l. 18 – 280, l. 1. They collected the fire poker. App. 282, ll. 6 – 16. It was broken and in two pieces, but was not broken in the attack. App. 456, ll. 1 – 4. App. 283, ll. 21 – 23. App. 284, ll. 11 – 13. The police did not find any blood on

the fire poker. App. 329, ll. 6 – 9. SLED found only enough DNA on the fire poker to exclude McPherson and respondent as contributors. App. 330, ll. 6 – 13.

The State's case relied primarily on the autopsy and the pathologist's testimony regarding the number of blows to McPherson's body. App. 339, l. 8 – 349, l. 15. The pathologist testified about the injuries caused by blunt force trauma received by McPherson. App. 339, l. 8 – 349, l. 15. She received blows to her head, back, side, and arms. App. 339, l. 8 – 349, l. 15.

The pathologist also testified about the drugs in McPherson's system. App. 376, l. 15 – 389, l. 6. McPherson had alcohol in her system. App. 388, ll. 7 – 389, l. 14. She had cocaine and its byproduct in her system. App. 384, l. 8 – 385, l. 24. She had marijuana in her system. App. 386, l. 23 – 387, l. 24. McPherson had methadone, used to treat recovering heroin addicts, in her system. App. 377, ll. 16 – 19. She had cough syrup and ephedrine/pseudoephedrine in her system. App. 377, ll. 22 – 25. App. 365, ll. 4 – 16. She had medications used for treatment of depression and schizophrenia in her system. App. 377, ll. 4 – 15. Defense counsel rightly called McPherson "a walking drug cocktail" in closing argument. App. 560, ll. 22 – 23.

*Respondent Testified he Acted in Self-Defense*

Respondent emigrated from Yugoslavia and became an American citizen. App. 416, ll. 1 – 15. He worked construction and owned his own businesses in Virginia and then in South Carolina. App. 416, ll. 6 – 18. He first met McPherson in Myrtle Beach in 2001. App. 417, ll. 21 – 25. In 2001, they only dated for three months. App. 418, ll. 5 – 11.

In 2004, respondent and McPherson began dating again and he moved in with her. App. 418, l. 18 – 419, l. 6. McPherson's attitude changed. App. 419, ll. 14 – 22. McPherson began using drugs and men half her age began "calling all different hours" and getting pills from her. App. 406, ll. 1 – 15. App. 423, ll. 5 – 19. During this period they lived together, she would

verbally abuse respondent and throw things at him. App. 420, l. 16 – 421, l. 14. She slapped him in the face and broke his glasses. App. 422, ll. one – 4. She repeatedly spit in respondent's face. App. 421, ll. 15 – 25. Despite the physical abuse, respondent did not retaliate. App. 424, ll. 5 – 7. He moved into his own place after living with her for approximately a year. App. 424, ll. 8 – 21.

A few months after this break-up, they again began seeing each other casually. App. 425, ll. 5 – 19. McPherson told respondent things would be different if she moved in with him because they would no longer be living in her trailer park. App. 425, l. 20 – 426, l. 2. After a month and a half, McPherson again started abusing pills. App. 426, ll. 15 – 20. Respondent described McPherson: “She had pill for everything, pill for up, pill for down, pill for sleep, pill for everything.” App. 426, ll. 15 – 20. The pills turned her into “something evil.” App. 426, ll. 21 – 25. Respondent also believed she was abusing crack cocaine, a belief that was confirmed by the toxicology report. App. 427, ll. 9 – 12. App. 384, l. 8 – 385, l. 24.

The physical abuse by McPherson resumed and she slapped him and spit in his face according to her mood. App. 427, ll. 15 – 25. Appellant never retaliated physically. App. 428, ll. 6 – 14.

Several days before her death, McPherson and respondent got into an argument at a construction job site. App. 428, l. 15 – 430, l. 12. Respondent corrected a mistake she made and McPherson shot him the bird then drove off in her van. App. 429, l. 17 – 430, l. 12. Respondent did not see McPherson for several days. App. 430, ll. 13 – 20. McPherson eventually called and asked if she could return home, but respondent told McPherson he was ending their relationship. App. 430, l. 19 – 431, l. 20. McPherson was intoxicated during the call. App. 431, ll. 4 – 20. She drove to his house, parked her by his garage and slept in her van. App. 431, ll. 21 – 25.

The next day, when respondent came home from work, McPherson “was just laying on the couch like nothing happened.” App. 432, l. 19 – 434, l. 2. Respondent told her to leave and McPherson responded that she would move out soon. App. 434, ll. 3 – 10. McPherson then took out some marijuana and respondent told her not to smoke in his house and to leave. App. 420, ll. 11 – 21. He tried to call the police, but she unplugged that. App. 434, ll. 22 – 25. McPherson picked up a fireplace poker and poked a hole in the tray respondent was using to eat his dinner. App. 435, ll. 3 – 11.

They began to argue and McPherson “was really red in the face” and her voice was strangely deep. App. 436, ll. 5 – 10. McPherson attacked respondent several times with the poker until she had them backed into a corner. App. 436, l. 15 – 437, l. 17. She swung the poker at respondent and he was afraid for his life. App. 437, l. 20 – 438, l. 10. While trying to protect himself, respondent grabbed a baseball bat and hit McPherson. App. 438, ll. 1 – 10. Respondent remembered hitting McPherson while she was laying on the ground. App. 438, ll. 5 – 10.

*Respondent’s Character Witnesses, the State’s Attempts to Prevent their Testimony, and the State Calls a Character Witness in Reply*

Contradicting the State’s argument in its petition, the solicitor obviously believed respondent’s character witnesses were prejudicial to his case because he tried to prevent their testimony. App. 490, l. 2 – 492, l. 21. Before respondent’s character witnesses took the stand, the State made a motion in limine to exclude their testimony. App. 490, l. 2 – 492, l. 18. He said his investigator had spoken “to five people on the witness list and I think they got about maybe two sentences of admissible testimony between all five witnesses.” App. 488, l. 21 – 49, l. 4. During his initial argument on his motion in limine, he first characterized respondent’s witnesses as attacking McPherson’s character. App. 490, l. 2 – 492, l. 18. He ultimately asked “that the

defense counsel instruct their witnesses not to testify to inadmissible and character evidence that is not an issue in this case.” App. 491, l. 17 – 492, l. 1. The trial judge told the solicitor he would need to make contemporaneous objections. App. 492, ll. 19 – 20.

Andy Seifert was respondent’s first character witness and she had known him for thirteen years. App. 495, ll. 9 – 16. The “stay-at-home mom” described respondent as “very nice, very respectable, hard-working, great with kids, my kids loved him, that’s pretty much it.” App. 495, ll. 1 – 22. Even though she had seen McPherson scream expletives and throw things at respondent, she had never seen respondent act violently towards McPherson. App. 483, ll. 6 – 21. She never saw respondent act violently towards anyone. App. 497, ll. 22 – 23.

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